Committee on Rules Legislative Process Program

Section 5 – The Senate, the Executive Branch and Congressional Oversight

111TH CONGRESS

LOUISE M. SLAUGHTER, Chairwoman

Presidential Action and Statutes

Section 5, chapter 3 of 4

August 28, 2010



Presidential Action and Statutes

Section 5 chapter 3 of 4

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION	2
PRESIDENTIAL ACTION	
THE PRESIDENT'S STATE OF THE UNION ADDRESS: TRADITION, FUNCTION,	3
AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS	3
Overview	3
Common Elements	3
Policy Impact	
STATEMENTS OF ADMINISTRATION POLICY (SAPs)	6
THE PRESIDENT'S BUDGET	7
The Presidential Budget Process	7
Formulation and Content of the President's Budget	
Executive Interaction With Congress	8
REGULAR VETOES AND POCKET VETOES: AN OVERVIEW	9
Constitutional Basis and Importance	9
VETO OVERRIDE PROCEDURE IN THE HOUSE AND SENATE	
Summary	9
Veto Override Procedure in the House and Senate	9
House Procedure	10
Senate Procedure	11
PRESIDENTIAL SIGNING STATEMENTS: CONSTITUTIONAL AND INSTITUTIONAL IMPLICATION	ทร 13
Historical Usage and Constitutional Basis	14
STATUTES	15
PUBLIC LAWS AND PRIVATE LAWS	15
Commercial Sources of Public Laws (Print Format)	15
The United States Statutes At Large	
Public Laws, as Amended	
U.S. CODE	16
Annotated Editions of the United States Code	17
General Index	17
Popular Name Table	17
Statutes at Large Table	
REENACTMENT OR POSITIVE LAW CODIFICATION	

Introduction

The Legislative Process Program materials prior to this packet describe how legislation makes its way through the House and how the House works with the Senate to agree on a final version of a bill to send to the President. This document discusses both the Executive Branch's role in the legislative process and the fate of legislation once it is signed into law.

The packet starts by describing the formal ways the President communicates his positions to Congress (through the State of the Union message and Statements of Administration Policy), moves on to his role in the budget process, and then to his role in signing or vetoing legislation (as well as his use of "signing statements").

Legislation signed by the President, or enacted by Congress over his veto, modifies a body of statutory law consisting of the enactments of prior Congresses, back to 1789. Statute is in turn the starting point for subsequent proposals in the House and Senate: most of what Congress does is aimed at amending, repealing or adding to Federal statute. Consequently, it is important for House staff to understand where statute can be found and in what form.

Presidential Action

The President's State of the Union Address: Tradition, Function, and Policy Implications

Excerpt from CRS Report: R40132 (pages 4, 8 – 10)¹ December 23, 2009

Colleen J. Shogan, Section Research Manager Thomas H. Neale, Analyst in American National Government

Overview

The State of the Union (SOTU) address is a communication between the President and Congress in which the chief executive reports on the current conditions of the United States and provides policy proposals for the upcoming legislative year. Formerly known as the "Annual Message," the State of the Union address originates in the Constitution. As part of the system of checks and balances, Article II, Section 3, clause 1 requires that the President "shall from time to time give to the Congress Information of the State of the Union, and recommend to their Consideration such Measures as he shall judge necessary and expedient." In recent decades, the President has expanded his State of the Union audience, addressing the speech to both the nation and Members of Congress.

From Congress's perspective, the State of the Union address may be considered the most important presidential speech of the year. It is the one time Presidents venture to the House chamber to present their programmatic priorities and set the tone for the ensuing year. Although modern Presidents communicate with Congress and the public consistently and persistently, the State of the Union provides the President with a unique opportunity to present his entire policy platform in one speech.

From the President's perspective, the State of the Union address has evolved from a constitutional duty to a welcome source of executive power and authority. Standing before the American public to deliver the annual address, the President combines several constitutional roles: chief of state, chief executive, chief diplomat, commander-in-chief, and chief legislator. Besides delivering the State of the Union, there is no other annual opportunity for the President to showcase his entire arsenal of constitutional powers.

Over time, the State of the Union address has evolved considerably. The format and delivery of the speech has changed, and its length has fluctuated widely. Technology has also influenced the delivery of the address, with the advent of radio, television, and the Internet playing significant roles in the transformation.

Common Elements

The State of the Union address is a unique genre of presidential speech. Charles Beard commented, "Whatever may be its purport, the message is the one great public document of the United States which is widely read and discussed." Karlyn Kohrs Campbell and Kathleen Hall Jamieson have identified three repetitive, sequential rhetorical arguments in State of the Union addresses:

* public meditations on values,

¹ http://www.crs.gov/ReportPDF/R40132.pdf

² Clinton Rossiter, *The American Presidency* (New York: Harcourt, Brace and Company, 1956).

³ Charles A. Beard, *American Government and Politics*, 7th ed. (New York: Macmillan, 1935), p. 185

- * assessments of information and issues, and
- * policy recommendations.4

The Sequence of Arguments

These three rhetorical arguments typically occur in a predictable sequential order. The President offers his opinion concerning important values or national character. Such an assessment leads him to identify targeted issues that will constitute his legislative agenda. Finally, he offers specific policy recommendations. The iteration of values, issue identification, and policy recommendations typically repeats itself numerous times in a State of the Union speech.

For example, in his 1962 address, President John F. Kennedy identified the values he deemed critically important to the nation:

But a stronger nation and economy require more than a balanced Budget. They require progress in those programs that spur our growth and fortify our strength.

He then recognized the policy problem that arose from the values he emphasized:

A strong America also depends on its farms and natural resources ... Our task is to master and turn to fully fruitful ends the magnificent productivity of our farms and farmers. The revolution on our own countryside stands in the sharpest contrast to the repeated farm failures of the Communist nations and is a source of pride to us all.

Finally, Kennedy provided his specific policy recommendation:

I will, therefore, submit to the Congress a new comprehensive farm program--tailored to fit the use of our land and the supplies of each crop to the long-range needs of the sixties--and designed to prevent chaos in the sixties with a program of commonsense.⁵

Presidents use this three-part rhetorical sequence when discussing both domestic and foreign policy in the State of the Union.

Recurring Themes

In addition to a common sequence of rhetorical arguments, State of the Union addresses also exhibit recurring thematic elements. Most include rhetoric about the past and future, bipartisanship, and optimism.

Past and the Future

Typically, the speech focuses on both past accomplishments and future goals. State of the Union addresses pay homage to the historical achievements of the nation and its recurring national values. In his 1983 address, Ronald Reagan stated the following:

The very key to our success has been our ability, foremost among nations, to preserve our lasting values by making change work for us rather than against us.⁶

Through attention to both past and future, Presidents can use the State of the Union address to develop their own definition of the national identity. For example, Bill Clinton used his 1995 speech to introduce the concept of a "New Covenant" that blended the traditional themes of

⁴ Karlyn Kohrs Campbell and Kathleen Hall Jamieson, *Presidents Creating the Presidency: Deeds Done in Words* (Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press, 2008), p. 139

⁵ John F. Kennedy, "Address to Congress on the State of the Union: January 11, 1962," in *State of the Union: Presidential Rhetoric from Woodrow Wilson to George W. Bush*, p. 577.

⁶ Ronald Regan, "Address before a Joint Session of Congress on the State of the Union," in *State of the Union: Presidential Rhetoric from Woodrow Wilson to George W. Bush*, p. 882.

"opportunity and responsibility" with the current policy challenges his administration faced. Moving back and forth between historical themes and contemporary issues is a common rhetorical practice in State of the Union addresses. Using the past to explain legislative proposals and decisions is a method aimed at legitimizing the President's policy program.

Bipartisanship

The State of the Union address is not primarily a partisan speech or document. Speaking before a joint session of Congress, Presidents often try to frame their arguments in such a way to build consensus. In his 2002 speech, George W. Bush stated the following:

September the 11th brought out the best in America and the best in this Congress. And I join the American people in applauding your unity and resolve. Now Americans deserve to have this same spirit directed toward addressing problems here at home. I'm a proud member of my party. Yet as we act to win the war, protect our people, and create jobs in America, we must act, first and foremost, not as Republicans, not as Democrats but as Americans.⁷

A rhetorical emphasis on bipartisanship can be politically empowering. By claiming a willingness to reach across the aisle, Presidents can remind listeners that their constitutional authority includes a mandate to protect the welfare of all citizens. Such a claim is unique to the presidency, and can serve as a powerful component of the chief executive's national leadership.

Optimism

The final recurring theme is optimism. No matter how terrible the crisis facing the country, Presidents always adopt a can-do "Horatio Alger" tone in their annual speech. Only a month after the attack on Pearl Harbor, Franklin Roosevelt began his 1942 State of the Union address with the following statement:

In fulfilling my duty to report on the State of the Union, I am proud to say to you that the spirit of the American people was never higher than it is today—the Union was never more closely knit together—this country was never more deeply determined to face the solemn tasks before it. The response of the American people has been instantaneous, and it will be sustained until our security is assured.⁹

Presidents often acknowledge the difficult nature of the goals they set, but such acknowledgement is qualified by a strong statement that Americans will always fulfill their destiny, solve intractable problems, and ultimately "establish a more perfect Union." No President has ever reported that the crisis facing the nation was insurmountable. ¹⁰

Policy Impact

The State of the Union address is uniquely situated to strengthen the President's role as chief legislator. The President routinely uses the address to convey his policy priorities and advertise his past legislative successes. In the course of the speech, Presidents can advocate for policies already being considered by Congress, introduce innovative ideas, or threaten vetoes.¹¹

In previous centuries, Presidents directed their annual address mainly to Congress, although major newspapers and magazines analyzed the contents of the speech. Now that the State of the Union is broadcast on television, radio, and the Internet, Presidents can speak directly to Congress and the American public. By speaking directly to citizens, Presidents attempt to

⁷ George W. Bush, "Address before a Joint Session of Congress on the State of the Union," in *State of the Union*, p. 1083

⁸ Campbell and Jamieson, *Presidents Creating the Presidency*, p. 140.

⁹ Franklin D. Roosevelt, "State of the Union Address," in *State of the Union*, p. 306

¹⁰ Campbell and Jamieson, *Presidents Creating the Presidency*, p. 141.

¹¹ Donna R. Hoffman and Alison D. Howard, *Addressing the State of the Union: The Evolution and Impact of the President's Big Speech* (Boulder: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2006), p. 96

convince the public to pressure their elected Representatives and Senators to support particular policy proposals mentioned in the speech. From 1965 through 2002, the median level of policy requests in a State of the Union address was 31. 12

Statements of Administration Policy (SAPs)

Excerpt from "Legislative Drafter's Deskbook: A Practical Guide" (pages 277-278)

Tobias A. Dorsey

Alexandria, VA: TheCapitol.Net, 2006.

One document prepared within the Executive Branch, known as a Statement of Administration Policy (SAP), deserves special mention because of its prominence in the legislative process. The purpose of a SAP (usually pronounced "sap") is to communicate to Congress the coordinated views of the President and agencies regarding a piece of legislation. A SAP is a prominent way for the executive branch to tell Congress that the President supports, has concerns about, or might veto legislation. Frequently, the support, concern, or opposition applies only to one or more parts of a bill and not necessarily to the entire bill. However, a SAP typically does not provide a detailed, proposed "fix" for contents that the President has concerns about or opposes. Instead, the executive branch usually follows up with letters and personal contacts to discuss the specifics with Congress. As appropriate, a SAP can also include the executive branch's estimate, or "scoring," carried out by the Office of Management and Budget, of a bill's cost for purposes of "pay-as-you-go" (PAYGO) calculations. A list of SAPs for each session of Congress, in electronic pdf.format, is available at the following website:

www.whitehouse.gov/omb/legislative/sap/index.html.

SAPs are prepared within the Office of Management and Budget in coordination with the agency or agencies principally concerned and the White House. Generally, a SAP is prepared for each appropriations bill, for most major bills that are not appropriations bills, and even for some bills seen as minor or non-controversial.

OMB's Legislative Reference Division prepares SAPs for most major non-appropriations bills scheduled for House or Senate floor action in the coming week, including those to be considered by the Committee on Rules of the House. In addition, SAPs are sometimes prepared for "non-controversial" bills considered in the House under suspension of the rules. A SAP is prepared in coordination with other parts of OMB, the agency or agencies principally concerned, and other Executive Office of the President organizations and individuals. For appropriations legislation, OMB's Budget Review Division is responsible for preparing SAPs. While the Legislative Reference Division and Budget Review Division are responsible for coordinating and clearing SAPs through OMB and agencies, OMB's Legislative Affairs Office is responsible for clearing SAPs through the OMB director and the White House's West Wing.

tendency of the data.

¹² Ibid., p.111. The median is used instead of the arithmetic mean (average) due to the presence of outliers in the data. The median is the middle value of a dataset. With outliers, such as Clinton in 2000 (87 policy requests) and Carter in 1980 (9 policy requests) the median more accurately represents the central

The President's Budget

Introduction to the Federal Budget Process Excerpt from CRS Report: 98-721 (pages 13-14)¹³ Updated November 20, 2008

Robert Keith
Specialist in American National Government

The Presidential Budget Process

The President's budget, officially referred to as the *Budget of the United States Government*, is required by law to be submitted to Congress early in the legislative session, no later than the first Monday in February. The budget consists of estimates of spending, revenues, borrowing, and debt; policy and legislative recommendations; detailed estimates of the financial operations of federal agencies and programs; data on the actual and projected performance of the economy; and other information supporting the President's recommendations.

The President's budget is only a request to Congress; Congress is not required to adopt his recommendations. Nevertheless, the power to formulate and submit the budget is a vital tool in the President's direction of the executive branch and of national policy. The President's proposals often influence congressional revenue and spending decisions, though the extent of the influence varies from year to year and depends more on political and fiscal conditions than on the legal status of the budget.

The Constitution does not provide for a budget, nor does it require the President to make recommendations concerning the revenues and spending of the federal government. Until 1921, the federal government operated without a comprehensive presidential budget process. The Budget and Accounting Act of 1921, as amended, provides for a national budget system. Its basic requirement is that the President should prepare and submit a budget to Congress each year. The 1921 act established the Bureau of the Budget, now named the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), to assist the President in preparing and implementing the executive budget. Although it has been amended many times, this statute provides the legal basis for the presidential budget, prescribes much of its content, and defines the roles of the President and the agencies in the process.

Formulation and Content of the President's Budget

Preparation of the President's budget typically begins in the spring (or earlier) each year, at least nine months before the budget is submitted to Congress, about 17 months before the start of the fiscal year to which it pertains, and about 29 months before the close of that fiscal year. The early stages of budget preparation occur in federal agencies. When they begin work on the budget for a fiscal year, agencies already are implementing the budget for the fiscal year in progress and awaiting final appropriations actions and other legislative decisions for the fiscal year after that. The long lead times and the fact that appropriations have not yet been made for the next year mean that the budget is prepared with a great deal of uncertainty about economic conditions, presidential policies, and congressional actions.

As agencies formulate their budgets, they maintain continuing contact with the OMB examiners assigned to them. These contacts provide agencies with guidance in preparing their budgets and also enable them to alert OMB to any needs or problems that may loom ahead. Agency requests are submitted to OMB in late summer or early fall; these are reviewed by OMB staff in consultation with the President and his aides. The 1921 Budget and Accounting Act bars agencies from submitting their budget requests directly to Congress. Moreover, OMB regulations provide for confidentiality in all budget requests and recommendations prior to the transmittal of

http://www.congress.gov/erp/rl/pdf/98-721.pdf

the President's budget to Congress. However, it is quite common for internal budget documents to become public while the budget is still being formulated.

The format and content of the budget are partly determined by law, but the 1921 act authorizes the President to set forth the budget "in such form and detail" as he may determine. Over the years, there has been an increase in the types of information and explanatory material presented in the budget documents.

In most years, the budget is submitted as a multi-volume set consisting of a main document setting forth the President's message to Congress and an analysis and justification of his major proposals (the *Budget*) and supplementary documents providing account and program level details, historical information, and special budgetary analyses (the *Budget Appendix*, *Historical Tables*, and *Analytical Perspectives*), among other things.

Much of the budget is an estimate of requirements under existing law rather than a request for congressional action (more than half of the budget authority in the budget becomes available without congressional action). The President is required to submit a budget update (reflecting changed economic conditions, congressional actions, and other factors), referred to as the *Mid-Session Review*, by July 15 each year. The President may revise his recommendations any time during the year.

Executive Interaction With Congress

The President and his budget office have an important role once the budget is submitted to Congress. OMB officials and other presidential advisors appear before congressional committees to discuss overall policy and economic issues, but they generally leave formal discussions of specific programs to the affected agencies. Agencies thus bear the principal responsibility for defending the President's program recommendations at congressional hearings.

Agencies are supposed to justify the President's recommendations, not their own. OMB maintains an elaborate legislative clearance process to ensure that agency budget justifications, testimony, and other submissions are consistent with presidential policy. As the session unfolds, the President may formally signal his position on pending legislation through the issuance of a Statement of Administration Policy (SAP). These statements, which are maintained by OMB on its website, sometimes are used to convey a veto threat against legislation the President feels requires modifications to meet his approval.

Increasingly in recent years, the President and his chief budgetary aides have engaged in extensive negotiations with Congress over major budgetary legislation. These negotiations sometimes have occurred as formal budget "summits" and at other times as less visible, behind-the-scenes activities.

Regular Vetoes and Pocket Vetoes: An Overview

Excerpt from CRS Report: RS22188 (page 4)¹⁴ January 5, 2010

Kevin Kosar Analyst in American National Government

Constitutional Basis and Importance

The U.S. Constitution (Article I, Section 7) provides that, for a bill to become law, it must be approved by both houses of Congress and presented to the President for his approval and signature. The President may sign a bill into law within the 10-day period (excluding Sundays) provided in the Constitution, 15 let it become law without his signature, or veto it. The Constitution states that, when the President vetoes a bill, "he shall return it, with his Objections to that House in which it shall have originated." This type of action is called a "regular" or "return" veto. If, on the other hand, Congress has adjourned within the 10-day period after presentation of the bill to the President (thereby preventing the return of the bill to Congress), the President may simply withhold his signature, and the bill does not become law—a practice that has been dubbed a "pocket" veto. 16 The President's veto authority is among his most significant tools in legislative dealings with Congress. Illustrative of this point is the fact that Presidents have vetoed 2.562 bills since 1789; of these, Congress has overridden 110 (4.3%). Moreover, the veto also can be effective as a threat, sometimes forcing Congress to modify legislation before presenting it to the President.

Veto Override Procedure in the House and Senate

CRS Report: RS22654¹⁷ Updated July 19, 2010

Elizabeth Rybicki Analyst in American National Government Government Division

Summary

A bill or joint resolution that has been vetoed by the President can become law if two-thirds of the Members voting in the House and the Senate each agree to pass it over the President's objection. The chambers act sequentially on vetoed measures; the House acts first on Houseoriginated measures (H.R. and H.J. Res.) and the Senate acts first on Senate-originated measures (S. and S.J. Res.). If the first-acting chamber fails to override the veto, the measure dies and the other chamber does not consider it. The House typically considers the question of overriding a presidential veto for an hour, with time controlled and allocated by the chair and ranking member of the committee with jurisdiction over the bill. The Senate usually considers the question of overriding a veto under the terms of a unanimous consent agreement.

Veto Override Procedure in the House and Senate

According to Article 1, Section 7 of the Constitution, when the President chooses not to sign a bill bill and returns it instead to the chamber that originated it, the chamber shall enter the message

¹⁴ http://apps.crs.gov/products/rs/pdf/RS22188.pdf

¹⁵ U.S. Constitution, Art. I, Sec. 7

¹⁶ Beginning in 1929, several judicial decisions have attempted to clarify when an adjournment by Congress prevents the President from returning a veto.

http://apps.crs.gov/products/rs/pdf/RS22654.pdf

of the President detailing the reasons for the veto in its Journal and then "proceed to reconsider" the bill. 19 A vetoed bill can become law if two-thirds of the Members voting in each chamber agree, by recorded vote, a guorum being present, to repass the bill and thereby override the veto of the President.

The chamber that originated the bill sent to the President acts first on the question of its reconsideration; in other words, the House acts first on vetoed bills that carry an "H.R." or "H.J. Res." designation, and the Senate acts first on vetoed bills that carry an "S." or "S.J. Res." designation. If the chamber of origin votes to repass the bill, then the bill with the veto message is transmitted to the second chamber, which then also reconsiders it.

Nothing in the Constitution requires that either chamber vote directly on the question of repassing a vetoed bill; the chambers have, for example, referred a vetoed bill to committee instead. If either chamber fails to vote on the question, then the measure dies. Both chambers will not necessarily even have a chance to take up the question. If two-thirds of the Members of the chamber of origin do not agree to override a veto, then the measure dies and the other chamber does not have an opportunity to vote on the question of repassing the bill.

The Constitution does not otherwise address how Congress should consider a vetoed bill, and it is therefore House and Senate rules and practices that additionally govern the treatment of bills vetoed and returned by the President.

House Procedure

Overview

The consideration of a vetoed bill is a matter of high privilege in the House, and the chamber generally votes to override or sustain the veto shortly after the message is received from the President or the Senate. Time for debate on the question is usually controlled and allocated by members of the committee of jurisdiction, and a majority of the House can vote to bring consideration to a close. To repass the bill over the veto of the President requires the support of two-thirds of the Members voting, a quorum being present.

Beginning Reconsideration of a Vetoed Bill in the House

On the day a vetoed bill and accompanying presidential message are received, the Speaker lays the message before the House. The veto message is read and entered in the House Journal. It is not necessary for a Member to make a motion to reconsider the vetoed bill. If no Member seeks recognition after the message is read, the Speaker will put the question of overriding the veto before the House by stating:

The pending question is whether the House will, on reconsideration, pass the bill, the objections of the President to the contrary notwithstanding.

If Members do not wish immediately to debate the question, several preferential motions can be made before the Speaker states it. The House can agree by motion (or unanimous consent) to postpone the consideration of a veto message to a named day or to refer it to committee. The motion to postpone consideration of a veto message and the motion to refer a veto message are

¹⁸ In this report, the word "bill" is used to refer to all measures that are presented to the President, which includes bills as well as joint resolutions that do not propose constitutional amendments.

Section 7 of Constitution gives the President 10 days, excluding Sundays, after the receipt of a measure from Congress to choose one of three options: sign the measure into law, veto it and return it to the Congress, or take no action. If the President takes no action and Congress is in session, the bill becomes law without his signature. If, however, the Congress adjourns sine die before the 10 day period has expired, and the President takes no action, then the bill is "pocket vetoed." For more information, see CRS Report RS22188, Regular Vetoes and Pocket Vetoes: An Overview, by Kevin R. Kosar; and CRS Report RL30909(pdf), The Pocket Veto: Its Current Status, by Louis Fisher (out of print; available from this author).

debatable under the house rule.²⁰ The House may also agree to a nondebatable motion to lay the vetoed bill on the table. While the motion to table usually permanently and adversely disposes of a matter, that is not true in the case of a vetoed bill; a motion to remove the bill from the table could be made at any time.

House Debate on Veto Override

Debate on the question of overriding a veto takes place under the hour rule. In practice, the Speaker recognizes the chair of the committee with jurisdiction over the vetoed bill for an hour of debate, and the chair in turn yields 30 minutes to the ranking minority member for purposes of the debate only. The chair and ranking member of the committee serve as floor managers of the debate, yielding portions of time to other Members who wish to speak. Typically, after the hour is consumed or yielded back, the majority floor manager moves the previous question. If a majority of the House votes to order the previous question, the vote immediately occurs on the question of overriding the veto.

Voting in the House

To override a veto, two-thirds of the Members voting, a quorum being present, must agree to repass the bill over the President's objections. The Constitution requires that the vote be by the "yeas and nays," which in the modern House means that Members' votes will be recorded through the electronic voting system. The vote on the veto override is final because, in contrast to votes on most other questions in the House, a motion to reconsider the vote on the question of overriding a veto is not in order.

If the override vote on a House or Senate bill is unsuccessful, then the House informs the Senate of this fact and typically refers the bill and veto message to committee. If the House votes to override a veto of a bill that originated in the House (H.R. or H.J. Res.), the bill and veto message are sent to the Senate for action. If the House successfully overrides a veto of a bill that originated in the Senate (S. or S.J. Res.), then the bill becomes law because two-thirds of both chambers have agreed to override the veto.²²

Senate Procedure

Overview

If the Sen

If the Senate wishes to reconsider a vetoed bill, Senators generally enter into a unanimous consent agreement that the message be considered as read, printed in the *Congressional Record*, and, as required by the Constitution, entered in the *Senate Journal*. Senators often also agree, by unanimous consent, to limit time for debate on the question of overriding the veto. When the Senate receives a vetoed measure from the President or the House, it is quite common for it to be "held at the desk" for several days and considered only after unanimous consent has been reached on the terms of its consideration. When the vote on the question occurs, it must be taken by rollcall vote and receive support from two-thirds of the Senators voting, a quorum being present.

-

²⁰ The motion to postpone consideration of a veto message and the motion to refer a veto message are debatable under the hour rule. Both motions can be adversely disposed of with little or no debate by a nondebatable motion to table.

²¹ Because time on the question is controlled by the majority floor manager, other motions are typically not in order unless the majority floor manager makes the motions or yields to someone else for that purpose.

else for that purpose.

22 For additional information on the House action on vetoed bills, see (1) William Holmes Brown and Charles W. Johnson, *House Practice: A Guide to the Rules, Precedents, and Procedures of the House* (Washington: GPO, 2003), chapter 57, pp. 901-907; and (2) U.S. Congress, House, *Constitution, Jefferson's Manual, and Rules of the House of Representatives of the United States,* 111th Congress, H.Doc. 110-162, 110th Cong., 2nd sess. (Washington: GPO, 2009), sec. 104-110a.

Beginning Reconsideration of a Vetoed Bill in the Senate Without a Unanimous Consent Agreement

Although generally the Senate reconsiders a vetoed bill under the terms of a unanimous consent agreement, it is not necessary to secure the support of all 100 Senators to consider a vetoed bill in the Senate. Absent an arrangement to hold the veto message at the desk, it would be read and then entered into the *Journal* after its receipt from the President or the House. ²³ The presiding officer would then state:

Shall the bill pass, the objections of the President of the United States to the contrary notwithstanding?

Several debatable motions are in order, however, that could displace consideration of the veto message. The message could be referred to committee, for example, or postponed to a specific time. Alternatively, the majority leader might make a motion to proceed to another matter. If the Senate takes any of these actions, then the question of overriding the veto can only be brought before the Senate by unanimous consent or a nondebatable motion to proceed.

Finally, once the veto message has been laid before the Senate, it could also be tabled or indefinitely postponed, which would normally preclude any further action on the matter.

Senate Debate on Veto Override

The question of overriding a veto is debatable under the regular rules of the Senate. The question could be debated as long as any Senator sought recognition to discuss it.

Debate on the question of overriding a veto can be limited by unanimous consent or by invoking cloture. To end debate through a cloture motion requires the support of three-fifths of Senators duly chosen and sworn, or 60 Senators if there are no vacancies. ²⁴ Cloture is rarely used to end debate on overriding a Presidential veto. The number of Senators required to end debate is less than the number required to override a veto (assuming that there are no vacancies and more than 90 Senators vote on the override question).

Voting in the Senate

Two-thirds of the Senators voting, a quorum being present, must agree to pass the bill to override the veto. The vote must be a rollcall vote, and not a voice vote, due to the constitutional requirement that the vote be by the "yeas and nays." A motion to reconsider the vote on the question of overriding a veto is in order only if the Senate fails to override the veto. In other words, if two-thirds of the Senators agree to override the veto, a motion to reconsider that vote is not in order.

If the Senate fails to override a veto of a Senate-originated bill (S. or S.J. Res.), then the question of override never reaches the House. The Senate simply informs the House that the override vote on a House or Senate bill was unsuccessful. If the override vote on a Senate-originated measure (S. or S.J. Res.) is successful in the Senate, the bill and veto message are sent to the House for action. If the override vote on a House-originated measure (H.R. or H.J. Res.) is successful, then the bill becomes law because two-thirds of both chambers have agreed to override the veto."²⁵

Doc. 101-28 (Washington: GPO, 1992) (hereafter *Riddick's Senate Procedure)*, p. 1384.

²⁴ For more information on ending debate in the Senate, see CRS Report RL30360, *Filibusters and Cloture in the Senate*, by Richard S. Beth and Stanley Bach

²³ Except by unanimous consent, consideration of a veto message would not interrupt consideration of a measure being considered under the terms of a unanimous consent agreement (Floyd M. Riddick and Alan S. Frumin, *Riddick's Senate Procedure*, 101st Cong., 2nd sess., S. Doc. 101-28 (Washington: GPO, 1992) (hereafter *Riddick's Senate Procedure*), p. 1384.

in the Senate, by Richard S. Beth and Stanley Bach.

²⁵ For additional information on Senate action on vetoed bills, see U.S. Congress, Senate, *Riddick's Senate Procedure*, pp. 1381-1389.

Presidential Signing Statements: Constitutional and Institutional Implications

Excerpt from CRS Report: RL33667 (pages 4-6)²⁶ Updated September 17, 2007

> T.J. Halstead Legislative Attorney American Law Division

Presidential signing statements are official pronouncements issued by the President contemporaneously to the signing of a bill into law that, in addition to commenting on the law generally, have been used to forward the President's interpretation of the statutory language; to assert constitutional objections to the provisions contained therein; and, concordantly, to announce that the provisions of the law will be administered in a manner that comports with the Administration's conception of the President's constitutional prerogatives.²⁷ While the history of presidential issuance of signing statements dates to the early 19th century, the practice has become the source of significant controversy in the modern era as Presidents have increasingly employed the statements to assert constitutional and legal objections to congressional enactments. 28 President Reagan initiated this practice in earnest, transforming the signing statement into a mechanism for the assertion of presidential authority and intent. President Reagan issued 250 signing statements, 86 of which (34%) contained provisions objecting to one or more of the statutory provisions signed into law. President George H. W. Bush continued this practice, issuing 228 signing statements, 107 of which (47%) raised objections. President Clinton's conception of presidential power proved to be largely consonant with that of the preceding two administrations. In turn, President Clinton made aggressive use of the signing statement, issuing 381 statements, 70 of which (18%) raised constitutional or legal objections. President George W. Bush has continued this practice, issuing 152 signing statements, 118 of which (78%) contain some type of challenge or objection. The significant rise in the proportion of constitutional objections made by President Bush is compounded by the fact that these statements are typified by multiple objections, resulting in more than 1,000 challenges to distinct provisions of law. The number and scope of such assertions in the George W. Bush Administration has given rise to extensive debate over the issuance of signing statements, with the American Bar Association (ABA) recently publishing a report declaring that these instruments are "contrary to the rule of law and our constitutional separation of powers" when they "claim the authority or state the intention to disregard or decline to enforce all or part of a law ... or to interpret such a law in a manner inconsistent with the clear intent of Congress.²⁹

However, in analyzing the constitutional basis for, and legal effect of, presidential signing statements, it becomes apparent that no constitutional or legal deficiencies adhere to the issuance of such statements in and of themselves. Rather, it appears that the appropriate focus of inquiry in this context is on the assertions of presidential authority contained therein, coupled with an examination of substantive executive action taken or forborne with regard to the provisions of law implicated in a presidential signing statement. Applying this analytical rubric to the current controversy, it seems evident that the issues involved center not on the simple issue of signing statements, but rather on the view of presidential authority that governs the substantive actions of the Administration in question.

²⁶ http://www.congress.gov/erp/rl/html/RL33667.html

²⁷ Philip J. Cooper, "George W. Bush, Edgar Allen Poe and the Use and Abuse of Presidential Signing Statements," Presidential Studies Quarterly 35, no. 3, at p. 517 (September 2005).

²⁸ Christopher N. May, "Presidential Defiance of 'Unconstitutional' Laws: Reviving the Royal Prerogative," 21 Hastings Const. L.Q. 865, 932 (1994).

²⁹ American Bar Association, Report of the Task Force on Presidential Signing Statements and the Separation of Powers Doctrine at p. 5 (August 2006).

Historical Usage and Constitutional Basis

There is no explicit constitutional provision authorizing the issuance of presidential signing statements. Article I of the Constitution provides only that the President "shall sign" a bill of which he approves, while in vetoing a measure the President is required to return the measure "with his Objections to that House in which it shall have originated." However, Presidents have issued such statements since the Monroe Administration, and there is little evident constitutional or legal support for the proposition that the President may be constrained from issuing a statement regarding a provision of law.

The first controversy arising in this context stemmed from a signing statement issued by Andrew Jackson in 1830 that raised objections to an appropriations bill that involved internal improvements. The bill specifically addressed road examinations and surveys. In his signing statement President Jackson declared that the road in question, which was to reach from Detroit to Chicago, should not extend beyond the territory of Michigan. A subsequently issued House report criticized Jackson's action, characterizing it as in effect constituting a line item veto. Likewise, a signing statement issued by President Tyler in 1842 expressing doubts about the constitutionality of a bill regarding the apportionment of congressional districts was characterized by a select committee of the House as a defacement of the public records and archives. Perhaps sensitized by this rebuke, Presidents Polk and Pierce apologized for the issuance of signing statements, noting that such action departed from the traditional practice of notifying Congress of the approval of a bill via an oral message from the President's private secretary. This conception of a signing statement as an unusual instrument was again noted by President Grant in 1875, when he declared that his use of a signing statement was an "unusual method of conveying the notice of approval...."

Signing statements remained comparatively rare through the end of the 19th century, but had become common instruments by 1950. President Truman, for instance, issued nearly 16 signing statements per year, on average, with the figure steadily increasing up to the modern day. Concurrent with the rise in the number of statements issued, the usage of signing statements to voice constitutional objections to acts of Congress has become increasingly prevalent over the past 60 years. The type of executive action began in earnest during the Reagan Administration, as one aspect of a comprehensive strategy employed by the Reagan Administration to aggressively assert the constitutional prerogatives of the presidency.³⁷

³⁰ U.S. Const., Art I, sec. 7 cl. 2; see also, May, n. 2, supra, at 929.

³¹ Louis Fisher, "Constitutional Conflicts Between Congress and the President," University Press of Kansas, 4th Ed., at p. 132 (1997).

³² See Christopher S. Kelley, "A Comparative Look at the Constitutional Signing Statement," 61st Annual Meeting of the Midwest Political Science Association, at p. 5 (2003).

Fisher, n. 5, supra, at 132.
 Fisher, n. 5, supra, at 133.

³⁵ May, n. 2, *supra*, at 929-930.

May, n. 2, supra, at 929-93
 May, n. 2, supra, at 930.

³⁷ See, e.g., Morton Rosenberg, "Congress's Prerogative Over Agencies and Agency Decisionmakers: The Rise and Demise of the Regan Administration's Theory of the Unitary Executive," 57 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 627 (1989); CRS Report RL32855(pdf), Presidential Review of Agency Rulemaking, By T. J. Halstead (2005).

Statutes

Excerpt from CRS Report: RL30812 (pages 4-7)³⁸ Updated January 30, 2009

Federal Statutes: What They are and Where to Find Them
Cassandra L. Foley
Law Librarian

When Congress passes a law, it may amend or repeal earlier enactments or it may write on a clean slate. Newly enacted laws are published chronologically, first as separate statutes in "slip law" form and later cumulatively in the bound volumes of the *Statutes at Large*. Additionally, most statutes are also incorporated into the *United States Code* (*U.S.C.*). The *U.S.C.* and its commercial counterparts, *United States Code Service* (*U.S.C.S.*) and *United States Code Annotated* (*U.S.C.A.*) take the federal statutes that are of a general and permanent nature and arrange them by subject into fifty separate titles. As the statutes that underlie the *Code* are revised, superseded, or repealed, the provisions of the *Code* are updated to reflect these changes.

Public Laws and Private Laws

When a piece of legislation is enacted under the procedures set forth in Article 1, Section 7 of the Constitution, it is characterized as a "public law" or a "private law." Each new statute is assigned a number according to its order of enactment within a particular Congress (e.g., the 10th public law enacted in the 109th Congress was numbered as P.L. 109-10; the 10th private law was numbered Private Law 109-10). Private laws are enacted for the benefit of a named individual or entity (e.g., due to exceptional individual circumstances, Congress enacts a law providing a government reimbursement to a named person who would not otherwise be eligible under general law). In contrast, public laws are of general applicability and permanent and continuing in nature. Public laws form the basis of the *Code*. All other laws must be researched in the slip laws/*Statutes at Large* format.

The Government Printing Office (GPO) publishes the first official text of a new statute, the slip law, in pamphlet form. Individual slip laws in print format can be obtained from the GPO. Federal Depository Libraries, located throughout the United States, also provide free public access to copies of federal publications and other information. A list of Federal Depository Libraries and their locations is accessible on the Internet at http://catalog.gpo.gov/fdlpdir/FDLPdir.jsp. Some private and public libraries compile the laws in looseleaf binders or in microfiche collections.

Commercial Sources of Public Laws (Print Format)

The *United States Code Congressional and Administrative News (U.S.C.C.A.N.)* compiles and publishes public laws chronologically in their slip law version. *U.S.C.C.A.N.*'s annual bound volumes and monthly print supplements include the texts of new enactments and selected Senate, House, and/or conference reports. The *U.S.C.S.* and the *U.S.C.A.* publish new public laws chronologically as supplements.

The United States Statutes At Large

Slip laws (both public laws and private laws) are accumulated, corrected and published at the end of each session of Congress in a series of bound volumes entitled *Statutes at Large*. The laws are cited by volume and page number (e.g., 96 Stat. 1259 refers to page 1259 of volume 96 of the *Statutes at Large*). Researchers are most likely to resort to this publication when they are interested in the original language of a statute or in statutes that are not codified in the *Code*, such as appropriations or private laws.

³⁸ http://apps.crs.gov/products/rl/pdf/RL30812.pdf

Public Laws, as Amended

Most statutes do not initiate new programs. Rather, most statutes revise, repeal, or add to existing statutes. Consider the following sequence of enactments.

- In 1952, Congress passed the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 (P.L. 82-414, 66 Stat. 163). This law generally consolidated and amended federal statutory law on the admission and stay of aliens in the U.S. and how they may become citizens. The Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 was codified at Title 8 of the U.S.C. §§ 1 et seq.
- In 1986, Congress passed the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (P.L. 99-603, 100 Stat. 3359). Section 101 of this act amended Section 274 of the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 (codified at 8 U.S.C § 1324) by adding Section 274a (codified at 8 USC § 1324a). This new section (Section 274a) made it unlawful for a person to hire for employment in the United States an illegal alien.
- In 1996, Congress passed the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigrant Responsibility Act of 1996 (P.L. 104-208 (Division C), 110 Stat. 3009). Section 412 of the 1996 Act amended the employer sanctions process by requiring an employer to verify that a new employee is not an illegal alien. As with the 1986 Act, the 1996 Act expressly amended the Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952 (Section 274A in this case) and Section 1324a in Title 8 of the U.S.C. (8 U.S.C. § 1324a).

As the above sequence illustrates, the canvas upon which Congress works is often an updated, stand-alone version of an earlier public law (e.g., Immigration and Nationality Act of 1952, as amended), and not the *U.S. Code*. On the "Titles of *United States Code*" page of the *Code* an asterisk appears next to some of the titles. The asterisks refer to a note that states: "This title has been enacted as positive law." If the title is asterisked, the *Code* provides the authoritative version of the public law, as amended. For example, there is no asterisk beside Title 42 of the *U.S.C.* Thus, the provisions codified in Title 42 are not authoritative. Should there be a discrepancy, a court will accept the language in the *Statutes at Large* as the authoritative source and not the *Code*. It should be noted that there is no substantive difference between the language of the public law as published in the *Statutes at Large* and that of the *Code*.

It is often difficult to find current, updated versions of frequently amended public laws in print. Many congressional committees periodically issue committee prints containing the major public laws within their respective jurisdictions. Alternatively, the various commercial publishers, discussed herein, print updated versions of major public laws. In addition, the amended versions of some major public laws can be found on the Internet.

U.S. Code

The *United States Code* is the official government codification of federal legislation. This resource has been printed by the United States Government Printing Office since 1926. The *U.S.C.* is published every six years and supplemented by annual cumulative bound volumes. The latest edition is dated 2000.

In the *U.S.C.*, statutes are grouped by subject into fifty titles. Each title is further organized into chapters and sections. A listing of the titles is provided in each volume. Unlike the statutes, the *Code* is cited by title and section number (e.g., 28 U.S.C. Sec. (or §) 534 refers to Section 534 of Title 28). Notes at the end of each section provide additional information, including statutory origin of the *Code* provision (both by public law number and *Statutes at Large* citation), the effective date(s), a brief citation and discussion of any amendments, and cross references to related provisions.

Annotated Editions of the United States Code

The *United States Code Annotated (U.S.C.A.)* published by Thomson/West and the *United States Code Service (U.S.C.S.)* published by LexisNexis are unofficial, privately published editions of the *Code*. These publications include the text of the *Code*, annotations to judicial decisions interpreting the *Code* sections, cross references to the *Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.)* provisions and historical notes. Both also provide references to selected secondary sources. For example, the *U.S.C.S.* includes selected law review articles.

Bound volumes of the *U.S.C.A.* and the *U.S.C.S.* are updated by annual inserts ("pocket parts") and supplements. These updates include newly codified laws and annotations. Both *U.S.C.A.* and *U.S.C.S.* issue pamphlets containing copies of recently enacted public laws arranged in chronological order. Since there is a time lag in publishing the official *U.S.C.*, codified versions of new enactments usually appear first in the *U.S.C.A.* and *U.S.C.S.* supplements.

General Index

Each edition of the *Code* has a comprehensive index which is organized by subject. For example, to locate the provision of law establishing a review committee for farm marketing quotas, search the term "farm marketing quotas," in the index. There are references to several other subject headings, including the Agricultural Adjustment Assistance Act of 1938. Turning to that heading and looking under the subheading "farm marketing quotas," there is a reference to a "committee for review" codified at 7 U.S.C. § 1363. The index is updated in each annual supplement to the *Code*.

Popular Name Table

Each edition of the *Code* also has a table which can be used to find an act if its citation is not known. The public laws are arranged alphabetically and can be searched under their commonly known names. This reference also provides the public law number and the citations to the *Statutes at Large* and the *U.S.C.* If the original laws have been amended, the same information is provided for each amendment. For example, searching for the "Special Drawing Rights Act" in the table shows that it has been codified at 22 U.S.C. § 286q.

Statutes at Large Table

The Statutes at Large table is one of the most useful research tools because it shows the relationship between public laws, the Statutes at Large, and the U.S.C.. A researcher who has either a public law number or a Statutes at Large citation can use this table to ascertain where that law is codified and its present status. The table is particularly useful when searching in one section of a law that contains many subsections because it can be used to find where individual sections and subsections of a public law have been codified. For example, the table indicates that P.L. No. 99-661, Section 1403 is codified in the U.S.C. at 20 U.S.C. § 4702.

U.S.C.A. and the U.S.C.S. also have their own versions of the research tools discussed above. 39

_

³⁹ Cassandra Foley. "Federal Statutes: What They Are and Where to Find Them," CRS Report: RL30812, January 30, 2009, p.5. http://apps.crs.gov/products/rl/pdf/RL30812.pdf

Reenactment or Positive Law Codification

As discussed above, a measure sent to the President and signed into law is assigned a public law number and published as a stand-alone pamphlet called "slip law." After each Congress is over, all of the slip laws for that particular Congress are assembled in chronological order and published as the Statutes At Large. At this stage, because the laws are all in chronological order instead of arranged by subject matter, and because each Congress has its own set of Statutes At Large, the Statutes At Large is very difficult to use. (E.g., all of the federal statutes having to do with highways are spread out among shelves worth of volumes of the Statutes At Large spanning decades of Congresses. A highway bill signed into law during the 105th Congress might amend a bill enacted in the 97th Congress, which amends a prior statute, and so on.) The U.S. Code solves this problem by rearranging and splicing together all of the statutes into subject matter order, with each subject matter covered in one of the 50 titles of the U.S. Code. (E.g., all of the federal statutes having to do with highways are codified, in a logical order, in Title 23).

There is a small wrinkle in all of this publishing and republishing: occasionally, as parts of the statutes are rearranged, renumbered and reprinted in order to fit the format and order of the U.S. Code, typographical errors or other mistakes result in the U.S. Code version of a statute having a different meaning and legal effect than the version originally passed and signed into law. When such a conflict exists, the version actually signed into law (as found in slip law and then in the Statutes At Large) controls. There have been instances where the outcome of a court case or a regulatory decision has turned on such unintended differences between the Statutes At Large and the U.S. Code.

The Office of Law Revision Counsel is responsible for going through the U.S. Code and – without changing the meaning or legal effect of any of the statutory provisions – resolving ambiguities and contradictions and removing inconsistencies, redundancies, obsolete content and other imperfections. Once Law Revision Counsel has completed this process for an individual title of the U.S. Code, or, sometimes, a piece of an individual title, Congress can "reenact" that title as law – that is, put the title's new, edited language into a bill and pass it, and send it to the President – making it the official law, superseding the Statutes At Large.

An example of a positive law codification bill in the 110th Congress is H.R. 4779, which would reenact Title 41 on public contracts. This bill was drafted by Law Revision Counsel, introduced by Judiciary Chairman Conyers and referred to the Judiciary Committee (where all positive law codification measures are referred). Another example is H.R. 4780, which would create a whole new, 51st title in the U.S. Code devoted to space.